# AUSTRALIA'S NEW GEOPOLITICAL REALITY: ON THE FRONT LINE OF THE CHINESE COMMUNIST PARTY'S GLOBAL INFLUENCE CAMPAIGN

By

Joanna Lei Egan

Submitted to

Central European University

School of Public Policy

in partial fulfilment for the degree of Master of Arts in Public Policy

Supervisor: Daniel Large

Budapest, Hungary

2020

# **Author's Declaration**

I, the undersigned Joanna Lei Egan, hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. To the best of my knowledge this thesis contains no material previously published by any other person except where proper acknowledgement has been made. This thesis contains no material which has been accepted as part of the requirements of any other academic degree or non-degree program, in English or in any other language.

This is a true copy of the thesis, including final revisions.

Date: 10 June 2020

Name: Joanna Lei Egan

Signature:

### **Abstract**

As China has risen as a global power the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) has sought to increase its influence abroad. Australia is at the forefront of these efforts and, as such, this thesis seeks to uncover the CCP's influence efforts in Australia and assess the implications this has for the nation. The thesis also considers Australia's policy response to this incursion and whether it is adequate to protect the country's national interests into the future. Relying on policy reports, newspaper articles, government documents, and academic papers, this thesis argues that the CCP's campaign is systematic and aims to align attitudes, politics, and decision-making in Australia with party interests. Moreover, this thesis contends that, as it stands, Australia's response is inadequate to effectively protect the nation's sovereignty and national interests.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to my professor and supervisor, Daniel Large, for his help and guidance in producing this thesis. His advice has always been constructive and proven indispensable in ensuring that I achieve the best possible result. I also want to thank my friends and family for their encouragement and support in the thesis-writing period as well as throughout the academic year. In particular, I want to thank my Dad for his input along the way, which has been invaluable.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Abbreviations	Vi
Introduction	1
Methodology and Research Design	2
The Origins of the CCP's Influence Efforts	3
The Significance of Australia	4
Chapter 1 - Literature Review	7
Weaponising the Diaspora and Co-opting Foreigners	7
The Case of Australia	11
Chapter 2 – Charting CCP Influence Efforts in Australia	14
The Education Sector	14
The Political System	18
The Media	21
Investment and Business	24
Chapter 3 – Implications and Australia's Response	26
The Implications and Long-Term Goals of CCP Interference	26
The Current Policy Approach	27
Is This Enough?	28
Conclusion	31
Future Directions	32
References	34

# List of Abbreviations

**ACPPRC** Australian Council for the Promotion of the Peaceful Reunification of China

**ACRI** Australia China Relations Institute

**ASIO** Australian Secret Intelligence Organisation

**CCP** Chinese Communist Party

CI Confucius Institute

FIRB Foreign Investment Review Board

**FITS** Foreign Influence Transparency Scheme

**SOE** State Owned Enterprise

**UFWD** United Front Work Department

**US** United States

### Introduction

As the People's Republic of China (hereafter referred to as China) has taken and consolidated its place as a major power on the global stage it has sought to increase its power and influence abroad. As part of this process, the General Secretary of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP), Xi Jinping, has sought to create a more assertive China and, in line with this aim, has endeavoured to spread China's web of influence outside its immediate neighbours in Asia. These efforts to gain traction abroad are now being seen on almost every continent. Australia is on the front line of these foreign influence operations as its close economic ties and large Chinese diaspora population make the nation strategically significant and also a relatively easy target (Diamond and Schell 2019, 146). In recent years, Australia has looked with increasing concern at CCP interference efforts, with questions raised as to how this will affect the nation's sovereignty. As Duncan Lewis, then directorgeneral of the Australian Secret Intelligence Organisation (ASIO), said in 2017: "Espionage and foreign interference continue to occur on an unprecedented scale and this has the potential to cause serious harm to the nation's sovereignty, the integrity of our political system, our national security capabilities, our economy and other interests" (McKenzie et al. 2017).

In light of this, the research question being addressed is: How and why is the CCP seeking to gain influence in Australia and is the Australian government's response to this adequate? Consequently, the main argument of this thesis is that the CCP is conducting a concerted effort to subvert Australian society and the democratic values that underpin it in order to sway key decision-makers to make choices that align with the CCP's interests. It does so through interference in the education sector, the political system, and the media, as well as through investment and business. Moreover, Australia's current response is wholly inadequate to effectively counter CCP influence efforts into the future.

# Methodology and Research Design

This thesis employs a qualitative, case-based research design, focusing specifically on Australia. A qualitative approach is used as the concept of influence is not quantifiable. By analysing the case of Australia I hope to draw conclusions and identify broader trends that are relevant to other Western liberal democracies that also may be targets of the CCP's foreign influence efforts. Anne-Marie Brady has conducted significant work on this topic in relation to New Zealand, which provided a useful frame of reference, but similar academic work has not been conducted on the Australian case — making this a worthwhile area for new research.

The key concept in the thesis is 'influence' which is measured according to intention for infiltration. Throughout this thesis, when referring to influence or interference I use the definition given by Brady which specifies the CCP's foreign influence activities as those aiming to "guide, buy, or coerce" influence abroad (Brady 2017, 2).

To carry out this research I use secondary data from academic and non-academic sources. In the literature review, I draw upon sources including academic articles, policy papers, and books. For the analysis of the CCP's influence efforts in Australia, I rely more heavily on newspaper articles and reports by investigative journalists. These sources were chosen as by analysing and categorically compiling relevant events (as covered by these sources) it is possible to piece together how the CCP is acting more broadly, thereby establishing a pattern of behaviour. Finally, when considering Australia's policy response to CCP interference, I primarily consult Australian government documents and reports.

Several limitations to this research are worth noting. Foremost, it is not possible to uncover the full extent of the CCP's influence efforts in Australia and what impact they are having given that

these operations are covert. This inherent lack of information is a significant limitation of this research. Another limitation is that information on the CCP's official policy and approach to foreign influence and diaspora relations is not freely available as it would be in Western liberal democracies, thus limiting the available data.

To advance my argument, I begin in the following subsections with a presentation of the relevant contextual information including a discussion of the origins of the CCP's foreign influence efforts and an explanation as to why Australia is a significant target. Then in Chapter 1, I conduct an indepth survey of the literature and show how this thesis fits within the existing literature and how it contributes to the body of research. In Chapter 2, I outline the nature of the CCP's foreign influence operations in Australia, particularly in regard to the education sector, the political system, the media, and through investment and business. Chapter 3 reflects on the implications of these operations for Australia, considers the long-term goals of CCP influence operations, and then critically evaluates the Australian government's response.

# The Origins of the CCP's Influence Efforts

Beijing's approach to foreign and domestic policymaking is informed by the CCP's narrative of the so-called century of humiliation. In this narrative, which has become a fixture in CCP rhetoric over the past 20 years, the CCP advances the idea that between the mid-19th and mid-20th centuries China was exploited by foreign powers leading to the loss of the nation's great power status and its hegemonic role in Asia. This contrived notion of humiliation has fed into the collective memory and contributed to a strengthening of Chinese nationalism (Friend and Thayer 2018, 22–23). As American sinologist Lucian Pye (1992, 50) said: "The most pervasive underlying Chinese emotion is a profound, unquestioned, generally unshakable identification with historical greatness". This feeling of "greatness", as Pye puts it, has bolstered the CCP's resolve to restore China's perceived

former glory and for the nation to resume its rightful place as a great power and hegemon. This desire for redress for the century of humiliation and reclaiming a sense of national pride and glory are key drivers behind the CCP's foreign influence activities and underscore Xi's calls for a realisation of the "Chinese dream of the great rejuvenation of the Chinese nation" (Groot 2017, 280; Wang and Hoo 2019, 4).

The CCP also sees an inextricable connection between internal and external threats, with anti-China sentiments held abroad seen as a root cause of serious problems domestically (Roy 1997, 123–24). In this way, actions taken in foreign countries that are contrary to the interests of the CCP are seen as weakening the control of the party within its own borders. Given the CCP's sense of superiority and its desire to maintain control domestically (and the perceived role that foreign nations play in this) it is hardly surprising that Beijing deems it its prerogative to conduct surveillance and influence operations abroad.

### The Significance of Australia

Australia is a key target for the CCP's influence operations for several reasons, including the nation's geopolitical and strategic importance, as well as the fact that it hosts a large Chinese diaspora population. As the CCP has begun acting more assertively in its international relations it has become clear that China's conception of its periphery has expanded. According to Xi's so-called "Asia-Pacific Dream", Australia, and Oceania more generally, can now be considered to be within China's wider periphery and sphere of influence (Palit 2017, 7; Woo 2014). This makes the situation faced by Australia (as well as by New Zealand) uniquely precarious in that other Western liberal democracies are much further afield and not directly within China's regional neighbourhood, and thus less at risk of the CCP's influence efforts (Benner et al. 2018, 37). In terms of strategic significance to China, Australia is of key importance as it maintains a strong

alliance with the US. By gaining traction within Australia, the CCP seeks to weaken Australia's US alliance and encourage Australia to take a more neutral position in any disagreement between the US and China (Yu 2016, 741–45). This is an integral step if China wishes to expand and strengthen its sphere of influence. As Hu Jintao, then General Secretary of the CCP, said in 2003: "Australia is a key component of China's external relations" (Hu 2003).

Aside from Australia's role in China's regional neighbourhood, the nation also plays an important role in the Chinese economy. Ensuring development is one of the CCP's key policy objectives. This manifests itself in China's foreign policy through an effort to secure access to natural resources that are crucial to the nation's ongoing development. Australia is important to China in this regard as it is the main import source of iron ore, zinc, and coal – all of which are essential inputs in the Chinese economy (Medeiros 2009, 51; OEC 2017a; 2017b; 2017c; China Power Team 2016). Conversely, as a consequence of Chinese demand, China is Australia's most important trading partner, accounting for almost 30 percent of Australia's trade (Tang 2018). This economic dependence on China puts Australia at particular risk of coercive economic policy and retaliatory measures.

Australia also plays host to a large Chinese diaspora community that has been growing rapidly in recent years. Australia has the largest percentage of people of Chinese ancestry of any country outside Asia, with 5.6 percent of the population claiming Chinese heritage (Poston and Wong 2016, 356–60; ABS 2017b; Statistics Canada 2017; Statistics New Zealand 2019). On top of its 1.2 million people of Chinese ancestry, Australia also hosts almost 200,000 Chinese students (Garnaut 2018). The growth of the Chinese community in Australia can be exemplified in that in 2006 Mandarin was the 6th most common language spoken in Australian households, but 10 years later it had risen to be the most commonly spoken language after English (ABS 2007; 2017a). This large

Chinese community makes Australia a target as the CCP seeks to exert power over its diaspora. This connects with the CCP's vision of the domestic and the foreign as inextricably linked and reflects the view that by maintaining a tight grip on Chinese communities abroad, the CCP's power at home will be protected. Evidently, China has numerous reasons for seeking to exert influence in Australia, including geopolitical and strategic motives, as well as the presence of a large Chinese community.

# Chapter 1 - Literature Review

This chapter seeks to provide an overview of the existing academic literature in the field and contextualise this thesis's contribution. In the first section, literature addressing the CCP's foreign influence efforts more generally and the role that the United Front Work Department (UFWD) plays in this is evaluated. In the second section, I consider literature pertaining to Australia in order to provide a more specific academic context in which this thesis fits.

# Weaponising the Diaspora and Co-opting Foreigners

When considering foreign influence more generally, this type of activity tends to be characterised as soft power. However, there is an important distinction between the legitimate use of soft power and its use to subvert the politics and societies of foreign countries. On this point, many authors concede that the CCP's foreign influence efforts diverge widely from what is typically understood as soft power, and instead display many characteristics often associated with hard power (Kalimuddin and Anderson 2018, 133; Pleschová and Fürst 2015, 62). Taking this distinction into account, Walker and Ludwig (2017, 6) coined the term sharp power to encompass influence efforts by authoritarian regimes (such as China and Russia) that seek to disrupt and subvert the political systems and alter discourse and information availability in targeted countries.

In this sense, China's coercive foreign influence efforts can be characterised as a form of sharp power and are part of a systematic model used across the globe. Anne-Marie Brady is arguably the preeminent voice in the field and has carried out significant work on CCP influence activities in New Zealand. She characterises Chinese influence as efforts to "influence, subvert, and if necessary, bypass the policies of [foreign] governments and promote the interests of the CCP globally" (Brady 2017, 3). She argues that China is carrying out foreign influence activities on a global scale as part of a comprehensive strategy to gain power abroad and influence the decision-

making of foreign governments (Brady 2017, 6). Suzuki (2019, 95) presents a similar argument and suggests that CCP foreign influence efforts follow a distinct pattern all over the world.

The CCP's influence efforts are primarily orchestrated under the direction of the UFWD. Gill and Schreer (2018, 160) argue that the overarching aim of the UFWD is to maintain CCP control at home and defend the party's strategic interests at the expense of the national interests of other nations. Gill and Schreer (2018, 158) along with Dotson (2019, 19) argue that the UFWD is orchestrating a long-term campaign aimed at subverting target nations' norms, democratic values, and open societies. Similarly, Clarke, Hunt, and Sussex (2020, 208) argue that the CCP's influence efforts are far more advanced than other potential threats, such as from Russia, in that the CCP is employing a long-term strategy with the aim of gaining leverage among foreign elites such as politicians and businesspeople. Despite giving a well-rounded argument addressing many avenues through which the CCP seeks to gain influence abroad, Clarke, Hunt, and Sussex fail to identify the media as one of these avenues. This is a significant gap in their research as the CCP's engagement with local and Chinese-language media is a key method used to exert influence (as I will argue in Chapter 2).

In the literature two distinct groups emerge in terms of those being targeted by the CCP's interference efforts – the Chinese diaspora and foreigners. Today there are estimated to be about 60 million people with foreign citizenship of Chinese descent living all around the world (Zhuang 2017). Maintaining connections with overseas Chinese communities and monitoring them is a key priority of the CCP. This is apparent in an excerpt from a manual used in the UFWD: "The unity of Chinese at home requires the unity of the sons and daughters of Chinese abroad" (Anderlini, Hornby, and Kynge 2017). James To (2014), a leading voice in the field, argues that CCP outreach to overseas Chinese communities plays a vital role in the party's soft power strategy. Moreover, he

argues that the CCP's approach has been successful in its ability to propagate general support for party interests within the diaspora community, while also preventing dissenting views from taking hold (To 2014, 194). He argues it does so via a multi-faceted approach that seeks to promote nationalistic patriotism based on a common sense of culture and ancestry (To 2014, 209–10).

Similarly, Suzuki (2019, 90) argues that one of the main roles of the UFWD is to control and surveil Chinese diaspora communities abroad. Suzuki (2019, 88) also argues that overseas Chinese are seen to have a role to play in China's foreign policy with the expectation that they should try to win over foreigners to support the CCP and its interests. Likewise, both Suryadinata (2017, 103) and Chang (1980) argue that the CCP aims to mobilise overseas Chinese communities to serve the interests of the party. Adding to these arguments, Groot (2017, 281; 2019, 4) asserts that the CCP also uses the diaspora community to isolate dissidents within the Chinese community (such as supporters of Taiwan and the Falun Gong) and to serve as vehicles to influence local politics and disseminate pro-China views within the wider community. Many experts also argue that the CCP's attempts to suppress critical voices through the mobilisation of the diaspora community has the effect of undermining key democratic freedoms, such as freedom of speech and freedom of assembly (Hamilton 2018; Pleschová and Fürst 2015).

On the other side of this argument, Gao (2018) argues that the discourse on the Chinese diaspora is very one-sided and exaggerates the role overseas Chinese communities play in the CCP's influence efforts. Liu and Dongen (2016) also argue that the view of overseas Chinese as being coopted by the CCP is misleading, and that instead the major role of the diaspora community has been to support China's development and growth by bringing capital and knowledge from abroad. In both these cases, the understatement of the role that overseas Chinese communities play in the CCP's foreign influence efforts is problematic, as evidence shows that while it may be a minority,

Chinese communities do play a significant role in the CCP's influence activities abroad (as is elaborated on in the following chapter). Similarly to Liu and Dongen, Schrader (2020, 15) argues that the CCP views overseas Chinese in a utilitarian light in that they can serve as a way to build national strength through their funds and local connections in foreign countries.

Gamlen (2006, 5) argues that diaspora engagement policy is driven by a desire to "trans-nationalise governance" whereby home countries attempt to maintain domestic-style rules over populations residing abroad. Groot (2019, 6) applies Gamlen's lens of trans-nationalised governance to the case of China and labels the CCP's attempts to extend control over its diaspora as "creeping extraterritoriality". Ang See and Ang See (2019, 286) make a similar argument and suggest that the line between Chinese nationals and foreign nationals of Chinese descent is increasingly blurred by the CCP. Brady (2019, 3) also reflects on this argument and concedes that "the boundaries between domestic United Front work and internationally oriented United Front work are no longer distinct". This blurring of what the CCP sees as a domestic policy issue is significant for Australia given the size of its diaspora community.

Aside from the CCP's attempts to control Chinese diaspora communities, many assert that UFWD activities have extended beyond their traditional purview and now include efforts to co-opt foreign politicians, businesses, and societies in order to better serve the interests of the party (Brady 2017; Groot 2015, 133; Hála 2019, 21; Paradise 2009; Szczudlik 2018; Suzuki 2019). This reflects Xi Jinping's push for the nation to take control of China's narrative and expand soft power in order to "tell China's story well" (Shambaugh 2015, 99; Reuters 2016). In line with this, Brady (2015, 51) argues that much of China's desire to influence foreigners comes out of the CCP's view that China is misrepresented in Western media. As a result, China is trying to promote itself as a global power and support the idea of a "peaceful rise" (Brady 2015, 53; Clarke, Hunt, and Sussex 2020, 208). In line with the CCP's efforts to curate information on China, many argue that they are also actively

trying to control intellectual discourse and establish their version of the facts both within and outside China's borders (Kalimuddin and Anderson 2018, 120–21; Shambaugh 2015, 101). As is evident, while there may be some differences of opinion in regard to what is motivating the CCP's influence efforts, the majority of the literature supports the assertion that they are malign.

### The Case of Australia

Evidently, quite a significant body of research exists in regard to the CCP's foreign influence efforts and the operations of the UFWD more generally; however, substantially less literature exists specifically on the case of Australia. Nevertheless, several authors support the assertion that Australia is at the front line of the CCP's foreign influence efforts (Fitzgerald 2018; Diamond and Schell 2019; Hamilton 2018; Groot 2019). Clive Hamilton (2018), one of Australia's most vociferous critics of CCP influence, argues that the CCP is orchestrating a systematic campaign to sway decision-makers to act in ways more favourable to China and the CCP. Across the literature many authors agree that these influence efforts are occurring throughout multiple sectors in society, with this being particularly visible in higher education, the political system, the media, and within Australian businesses (Köllner 2018; Fitzgerald 2019; Sun 2016; Hamilton 2018).

In spite of these views of the CCP's efforts as malign, some authors take a more favourable view. McCarthy and Song (2018, 15) argue that Australia has an unnecessary "instinctive angst" towards China and its rise. However, I would argue that this "angst" is entirely justified given that the values and political system promoted by the CCP are distinctly different from, and incompatible with, those of Australia. In a similar vein, Gao (2018) argues that the risk posed by the Chinese community in Australia is overstated and is motivated by fear. While it is surely the case that not all Chinese Australians' actions are politically motivated, Gao's argument downplays the very real threat that exists due to the CCP's efforts to control the diaspora community. Similarly, Sun (2016)

understates the risks associated with CCP influence and argues that while there is clear evidence that the CCP has succeeded in exerting influence over the vast majority of Chinese-language media in Australia, he suggests that this does not pose a problem as the Chinese community is able to access news information from many sources. This argument is overly simplistic as while it may be true that the Chinese community is able to access news from a variety of sources, it is likely that they will choose to access media in their native language, which means that they will inevitably be consuming biased, CCP-influenced media.

Medcalf (2014) also takes too narrow a view when discussing how Australia is seeking to counter China's rise. He considers this solely from a military perspective, ignoring the CCP's foreign interference efforts. Medcalf (2019, 111) also argues that the economic leverage China holds over Australia is overstated and only provides limited capacity for coercion. However, the reality of the situation, as evidenced by the actions of businessmen, politicians and universities, tells a different story (as I argue in Chapter 2).

In regard to Australia's policy response, relatively less literature exists, particularly when considering the issue through the lens of CCP influence. Goodman (2018) and Head (2018) discuss the implications of Australia's foreign interference laws, but do so from the perspective of civil society, arguing that the laws have serious negative consequences for democratic freedoms. Building off these arguments, Mack (2020) contends that the Australian government has taken the wrong approach and that the laws are ineffective and harm civil liberties, while also unnecessarily antagonising China. He suggests that Australia should "[work] with China as partners, rather than adversaries" on the issue of foreign influence, but it is difficult to see how such an approach would be viable considering that Australia's primary foreign influence threat is coming from the CCP (Mack 2020, 396). Similarly, Fitzgerald (2018, 64) also questions the effectiveness of Australia's

interference laws, noting that the current approach is unlikely to be effective due to Australian businesses and organisations openly pursuing relationships with wealthy Chinese investors. Nevertheless, Fitzgerald's focus on profit-seeking as the key factor behind the failure of this policy is misleading because it ignores the fundamental flaws in the policy itself (as is discussed in Chapter 3).

The increased media coverage of the CCP's foreign influence in Australia has not resulted in a corresponding expansion in academic research. Most of the few academic works that do exist on the case of Australia are either a more superficial discussion of the CCP's influence efforts or, instead, look specifically at one field in which influence is present. This lack of an overarching analysis of the CCP's operations in Australia, akin to Brady's work on New Zealand, leaves a substantial gap in the literature. An understanding of the bigger picture is essential in this case, as without appreciating the full extent of CCP influence, it is difficult to grasp the true significance and gravity of the issue. Moreover, there is a distinct lack of literature concerning Australia's policy response and the effectiveness of these policies, particularly when considering the policies from the perspective of countering CCP influence efforts. This thesis seeks to fill these gaps by tracing and analysing CCP influence in Australia, before evaluating the current policies and assessing their effectiveness. In filling this gap, I hope to advance the argument that the CCP's influence in Australia is pervasive and malign, with Australia's policies being wholly inadequate to deal with this threat.

# Chapter 2 – Charting CCP Influence Efforts in Australia

Australia is subject to a pervasive influence campaign at the hands of the CCP that permeates all facets of society. This chapter outlines these efforts across four key sectors in society – education, the political system, the media, as well as in investment and business. Within each subsection I present evidence of the CCP's influence efforts in order to compile an overall picture of the situation in Australia.

### The Education Sector

Some of the CCP's most conspicuous influence efforts in Australia have occurred within the higher education system. Putting universities at particular risk is the large number of Chinese students in Australia and the resulting heavy reliance on them for a significant portion of universities' income. Some of the nation's top universities derive up to 23 percent of total revenues from Chinese students' tuition fees (Babones 2019, 1). On a per capita basis Australia hosts significantly more international students than any other country and, in Australia's eight major research universities, 60 percent of international students are Chinese (Babones 2019, 4–5; Gill and Jakobson 2017, 3). This is particularly problematic given that education is Australia's third-largest export and gives China the ability to use its heavy stake in the education sector as leverage to influence decision-making at Australian universities and within the government (Tang 2019).

One of the main avenues through which Beijing gains influence at Australian universities is through CCP-backed Chinese student organisations. Through these groups, most prominently Chinese Students and Scholars Associations, the CCP is supporting a campaign of intimidation aimed at crushing dissenting voices and monitoring the actions of Chinese students on Australian campuses (Hamilton and Joske 2018, 12). Cases have emerged of Chinese students harassing members of the wider community if they take any action that may be perceived as anti-China

(Astarita, Patience, and Tok 2019, 319). For example, a Chinese student aggressively confronted a store owner over her shop selling a Falun Gong newspaper. The store subsequently dropped the paper over fears of a boycott by Chinese students (Hamilton 2018, 220). Similar intimidation attempts are also frequently directed against students who publicly raise issue with China or the CCP (Joske 2018). Chinese students are also actively encouraged by Chinese embassy staff and CCP-backed student organisations to stifle in-class discussion of sensitive topics and in their place promote pro-China views (Gill and Jakobson 2017; Hamilton 2019b, 5). There have also been accusations of universities removing items from the curriculum that would be considered sensitive topics by the CCP (Astarita, Patience, and Tok 2019, 319).

In late 2019, clashes occurred between Chinese and Hong Kong students at Hong Kong democracy rallies on Australian campuses, with accusations that Chinese students acted at the behest of Chinese embassies to stifle the pro-democracy students (McCauley 2019). Chen Yonglin, a former Chinese diplomat who defected to Australia in 2005, concurs with these accusations and argues that Chinese students are used by the embassies to block protesters and gather information on their peers (Garnaut 2014).

Surveillance of the Chinese student community through personal relationships as well as increasingly through social media also allows the CCP to maintain control over them. The CCP harnesses the Chinese student community to contribute to a feeling of constant surveillance, with students known to report their peers or professors to the embassy or chastise them personally if they say or do something not condoned by the CCP (Cook 2019). In this way, being outside of China does not mean that students are beyond the reach of censorship, even if this censorship is not directly facilitated by the CCP. Studies from the US have shown that up to 80 percent of

Chinese students carry out self-censorship by avoiding discussion of sensitive topics (Cook 2019). This statistic can likely be extrapolated to the case of Australia.

Aside from attempts to control Chinese students, the CCP is also attempting to influence local discourse through Confucius Institutes (CIs) and campus-based research centres. Li Changchun, a senior member of the CCP, has previously described CIs as "an important part of China's overseas propaganda set-up", with various other researchers also noting that CIs serve hidden political objectives and are increasingly subject to UFWD oversight (Suzuki 2019, 90; The Economist 2009). CIs are intended to teach Chinese language and culture to foreigners and operate on the campuses of 13 Australian universities. CIs are contractually under the control of the CCP and are subject to Beijing's decisions on teaching with no input allowed from the Australian host university (Hunter 2019b). This is clear in that some of the prerequisite skills of teachers applying to work in the institutes include that they must "love the motherland" and have "good political quality" (King and Hui 2019). All of these factors mean that teaching of Chinese history and culture will promulgate a version of facts that would otherwise be impossible to disseminate on Australian university campuses.

On top of establishing CIs across Australia, the CCP has also sought to control the China discourse through the establishment of the Australia-China Relations Institute (ACRI) at the University of Technology Sydney. The institute was established using funds from Chinese billionaire Huang Xiangmo who has long been mired in accusations of connections to the CCP. Huang was the chairman of the Australian Council for the Promotion of the Peaceful Reunification of China (ACPPRC) which is operated under the auspices of the UFWD and is the CCP's primary vehicle through which it controls and engages with the Chinese community in Australia (Hamilton and Joske 2018, 12; Zhang 2017, 30). The institute's attempts to push a pro-China perspective are clear

in that until 2016 the explicit aim articulated on the institute's own website was to promote "a positive and optimistic view of Australia-China relations" (Barro 2019). Professors at the University of Technology Sydney are also concerned, with one calling the work produced by ACRI "party propaganda of the Chinese Government" (Knott and Aston 2016).

Australian universities have also been seen to increasingly adopt an appearement approach by avoiding discussing materials or hosting events that may anger the CCP. A significant instance of this occurred in 2013 when the University of Sydney cancelled a visit by the Dalai Lama and forced organisers to move the event off-campus in efforts not to antagonise Beijing (The Guardian Australia 2013). Very similar occurrences have also been observed at three other Australian universities (Dias 2013). More recently, student Drew Pavlou, a vociferous critic of the CCP and its influence on campus at the University of Queensland, was suspended for two years for bullying and disciplinary offences primarily related to his role in organising pro-Hong Kong democracy protests in 2019 (Condon 2020). The CCP had previously been openly critical of Pavlou, with party mouthpiece the Global Times labelling him an "anti-China rioter" (Xu 2020). However, two of Pavlou's alleged victims have since come forward in his defence, saying that they never lodged complaints against him and were unaware that they were being used as evidence in the case. Moreover, one of the alleged victims said that they felt the complaints against Pavlou had been "manufactured" (Duffy 2020; McKenna 2020). This has contributed to accusations that Pavlou's suspension was politically motivated and given in order to pacify Chinese officials and to ensure the flow of Chinese money into the university. Former prime minister Kevin Rudd responded to the incident saying it gives the impression that the university is "bending the knee to Beijing" (Lynch 2020). The CCP has in the past also been known to strong arm Australian universities by blocking their websites within China if they fail to comply with Beijing's wishes (Martin 2016).

This gives the CCP significant leverage over universities due to their financial dependence on Chinese students.

The CCP's operations at Australian universities have the direct effect of restricting freedom of speech and undermining academic integrity, not just for Chinese students, but for both professors and the wider student body as a whole. This trend towards the use of a policy of appearement displays how deeply the CCP's influence has already penetrated into the Australian education system.

# The Political System

Aside from CCP influence in Australia's higher education institutions, Beijing is also carrying out focused efforts to infiltrate and influence Australian politicians and the decision-making process. Wealthy Chinese businessmen have been known to donate large sums to Australian political parties across the political spectrum. Between 2000 and 2016 around 80 percent of all foreign donations to Australia's political parties came from China (Benner et al. 2018, 35). One donor that gained notoriety in recent years is the aforementioned Huang Xiangmo with his alleged illegal donation of \$100,000 delivered in a supermarket bag to the Labor Party (Tan 2019). However, years before the cash-drop incident, Huang was already a key player in Australia's political system. In 2017, he promised to give the Labor Party a \$400,000 donation but then withdrew the offer when the party openly condemned China's claims in the South China Sea (The Economist 2017). This demonstrates that there was an element of quid pro quo expected for the donation. As mentioned previously, Huang was the chairman of the CCP-affiliated ACPPRC for four years and was the primary donor behind the establishment of the pro-China ACRI. As a result of his connections with the CCP and his role in political donations, in 2019 Huang's citizenship application was rejected and his permanent residency cancelled on advice from ASIO as they deemed him

"amenable to conducting acts of foreign interference" (Chenoweth, Grigg, and Tadros 2019; Tan 2019).

Another major political donor in Australia with suspected CCP links is Chau Chak Wing. Chau is one of Australia's largest sources of political donations and has given more than \$4 million between 2004 and 2018 (Gribbin and Conifer 2018). However, in recent years his donations have been marred with allegations of connections with the CCP and the UFWD. Chau has a well-documented relationship with high-level UFWD officials, having hosted them on numerous occasions, and has also met General Secretary Xi Jinping (McKenzie and Baker 2017; Needham 2019). Chau was also on the committee of the CCP-affiliated ACPPRC (McKenzie and Baker 2017). Moreover, a joint ABC-Fairfax Media report asserted that Chau had gained "privileged access" to Australian politicians with the aim of using this to influence decision-makers to the benefit of the CCP (Riordan 2017).

Other than donations to political parties, the CCP is trying to exert more direct influence by installing 'friends' of China into the Australian government. In 2017 these efforts came to the fore with ASIO identifying 10 political candidates that are believed to have close ties to Chinese intelligence services (Maley and Berkovic 2017). In one now infamous case Sam Dastyari, or as he came to be known "Shanghai Sam", a Labor Party senator, broke party lines and came out in support of China's claims in the South China Sea, calling the issue a "matter for China" (Riordan 2016; McKenzie, Baker, and Coorey 2017). While in office he also lobbied then deputy Labor leader, Tanya Plibersek, in an attempt to have her avoid meeting a pro-democracy activist while visiting Hong Kong (Karp 2017). After these revelations emerged allegations of quid pro quo surfaced, with reporters uncovering that some of Dastyari's domestic travel expenses, a 15-day trip to China, as well as \$40,000 in legal fees were paid by an array of businesses and organisations with

links to the CCP (Henderson and Anderson 2016). He also fostered a close relationship with Huang Xiangmo, with Huang personally paying a \$5,000 legal bill for Dastyari (McKenzie, Massola, and Baker 2017). Reports also later emerged that Dastyari had informed Huang that his phone and house were likely being tapped by Australian intelligence organisations (Patrick 2017). All this occurred in the context of ASIO's warning that Huang was believed to have connections with the CCP and was likely involved in influence efforts (McKenzie and Uhlmann 2017). It is overwhelmingly apparent in this case that the CCP had attempted to influence Australian politics and decision-making through buying favours from Dastyari. This conclusion is consistent with the opinion of Ross Babbage, a former high-ranking official in the Australian intelligence community, who said that there was clear evidence that Dastyari had been "recruited as an agent of influence" (Patrick 2017).

In a case with similar overtones, Gladys Liu, Australia's first Chinese-born MP, has on numerous occasions refused to criticise China's actions in the South China Sea or recognise them as unlawful, despite an international tribunal in the Hague finding otherwise (Harris 2019; Australian Associated Press 2019a). When questioned on whether she was a member of organisations linked to the CCP she said she "[could not] recall" despite reports indicating that she had previously been a member of two different provincial chapters of the China Overseas Exchange Association for over 12 years, as well as being the honorary president of the United Chinese Commerce Association of Australia, and holding positions within the Australia Jiangmen General Commercial Association and the World Trade United Foundation, all of which are generally accepted to have links with the CCP (Harris 2019; Iggulden 2019; Hamilton 2019c; Oakes, Hui, and Curnow 2019).

Another case of the CCP's political interference emerged in 2018 when Melbourne businessman Nick Zhao reported to ASIO that he had been approached by a suspected senior Chinese intelligence operative and offered \$1 million to run for the Melbourne parliamentary seat of Chisholm. Just a few months later he was found dead in a hotel room with the cause of death unable to be determined (Conifer 2019). The incident prompted a rare public statement from ASIO confirming that they were investigating the allegation of CCP interference and the circumstances surrounding Zhao's death, with the organisation calling the incident "troubling and disturbing" (Beech 2019). MP Andrew Hastie reflected on the incident saying: "This is a state-sponsored attempt to infiltrate our Parliament using an Australian citizen and basically run them as an agent of foreign influence" (Beech 2019). Gladys Liu was later elected in the seat Zhao was asked to run for.

As evident, the CCP is carrying out a concerted campaign to gain political influence through efforts to buy the allegiance of decision-makers as well as attempts to install CCP assets in the Australian parliament. Doing so fundamentally undermines the democratic process in Australia.

### The Media

In its efforts to shape the China narrative in Australia, the CCP has attempted to assert influence on Chinese and English-language media outlets in order to promote the party's version of China's story. Underlying these efforts is the CCP's belief that "the media should be infused with the spirit of the Party" (Central Committee of the Communist Party of China's General Office 2013, 9). The CCP's efforts are particularly pronounced in their control over Chinese-language media, with concerted efforts to suppress media that does not toe the party line. The CCP has several media outlets available in Australia that are directly controlled by the party including Xinhua, China Central Television, the *Global Times*, the *People's Daily*, and Chinese Radio International. The CCP also has influence over the vast majority of Chinese-language radio and print media, with an editor at one of Australia's CCP-controlled publications conceding that 95 percent of Chinese-language

print media in Australia is under Beijing's influence (Wen and Munro 2016). Even if Chinese-language media outlets are not directly controlled by the CCP, they tend to carry out self-censorship in order to avoid drawing the ire of the party and the potential negative consequences this brings (Van Der Plyum 2014). This has resulted in a clear shift in the content of Chinese-language media from previously a more critical depiction of China, the CCP, and politically sensitive topics, to a far more supportive and optimistic stance being seen today (Sun 2016, 25).

When news outlets publish articles that are contrary to the party's wishes, the CCP attempts to shut them down using coercive economic measures. One instance of this can be seen with Vision Times, a Mandarin news publication that has maintained its independent journalism. The CCP has been successful in getting businesses to drop their ads on the publication's website by threatening them with adverse consequences if they fail to do so (Cave 2019). Again, in efforts to dry up Vision Times's income, a migration agent in Beijing, a long-term advertiser with the organisation, was met with constant harassment from Chinese State Security officers who camped in the company's office building for over two weeks in order to force them to stop their advertisements (Chan 2018). A Sydney hotel has also received veiled threats of "financial consequences" from the Chinese Consulate if they did not remove a supposedly anti-China newspaper from their hotel's offerings (Wen and Munro 2016). This is problematic considering that Chinese-language media outlets, particularly those such as Vision Times that are primarily based online, rely on advertising revenue for the majority of their income (Sun 2016, 18). Even Australia's main public broadcaster, the ABC, is not immune to pressure from the CCP. In order to secure a deal for expanded access in China the ABC was required to substantially limit news and current affairs coverage on its Chineselanguage websites, both in Australia and abroad (Fitzgerald 2018, 62).

Aside from more traditional news outlets, the CCP has also sought to exert control over social media platforms that Chinese people have increasingly turned to for news updates. Popular platforms like WeChat and Weibo are subject to Chinese monitoring and censorship, meaning that news articles that are published in Australia can only be distributed to the Chinese community on these apps if they comply with censorship restrictions (Wen 2016a). This is significant given that surveys have found that over 60 percent of the Chinese diaspora in Australia use WeChat as their primary source of news and information (Sun 2018).

While already exerting influence over the majority of Chinese-language media in Australia, the CCP has in recent years sought to gain influence over the nation's English-language media as well. In 2016 several of Australia's leading news outlets signed agreements with the Central Propaganda Department of the CCP, allowing articles from official party sources to be included within Australian publications. Since then three of Australia's major newspapers, *The Sydney Morning Herald, The Age,* and the *Australian Financial Review,* have each month included an eight-page section titled "China Watch" that runs articles from CCP news outlet *The China Daily* (Wen 2016b). Among the first articles published under this agreement was one confirming China's claim on the South China Sea, clearly demonstrating how the CCP hopes to co-opt the credibility of Australian newspapers to spout party propaganda.

China's overbearing control of the media in Australia has consequences for both the Chinese diaspora and locals alike. Members of the Chinese community have limited access to balanced and objective reporting in Mandarin, which gives a skewed perception of the facts in relation to China. Moreover, due to the CCP's growing influence on English-language news outlets, Australians are also now increasingly exposed to party propaganda. By maintaining influence over the vast majority of Chinese-language media and exerting increasing influence within English-language

media, the CCP has attempted to drown out dissenting voices and give the impression that pro-China views are the mainstream.

### **Investment and Business**

The CCP is also attempting to exert influence in Australia through investments in businesses, particularly in critical infrastructure. A major development occurred in 2015 when the China-Australia Free Trade Agreement came into force. The agreement increased the threshold at which purchases by Chinese investors must be screened by the Foreign Investment Review Board (FIRB) from \$252 million to over \$1 billion (Hamilton 2018, 111). This gives Chinese investors increasingly unfettered access to the Australian market with little government oversight. This should be of great concern for the Australian government given that numerous pieces of critical infrastructure have been taken under Chinese control. This is problematic as in order to run a successful business, particularly internationally, it is essential that Chinese businesspeople have a close relationship with the party (Jakobson and Parker 2016).

Perhaps the most famous example of CCP influence within Australian businesses is the case of the Port of Darwin. In 2015 the strategically located port was leased for 99 years to Landbridge Industry Australia, a subsidiary of Shandong Landbridge Group which is headquartered in China and has known links to the CCP and the People's Liberation Army (Walsh 2019). Just a few years prior, the owner of Landbridge, Ye Cheng, had been named by the Chinese Government as one of the top 10 "individuals caring about the development of national defence" (Walsh 2019). In a similar case, the New South Wales government sold a 50 percent stake in the Port of Newcastle, the largest port on Australia's east coast and the world's largest coal port, to Chinese state-owned enterprise (SOE) China Merchants Union (Durie 2018). An even more intrusive development occurred in 2015 when the company of Chinese billionaire Liang Guangwei, who has known links

to the CCP, purchased land directly across from ASIO's new head office in Canberra (Riordan and Mannheim 2015).

Chinese investors and corporations, particularly SOEs, also control a significant portion of Australia's energy sector. Energy Australia, one of the country's largest electricity suppliers, is completely owned by China Light and Power (Hamilton 2018, 121). State Grid, a Chinese SOE with close ties to the CCP, also owns majority shareholdings in various Australian energy providers (Wade 2015). China's State Power Investment Corporation, another SOE, has also purchased Pacific Hydro, one of Australia's major renewable energy producers (Macdonald-Smith 2015). Further demonstrating the extent of China's penetration into Australia's energy sector is that half of the board of Energy Networks Australia, the primary body representing companies involved in the energy sector, is made up of representatives of CCP-associated corporations (Hamilton 2018, 123). Control of the energy sector is particularly significant as Beijing's ability to disrupt the power supply gives the CCP increasing leverage over Australia. In the event of a conflict between Australia and China, the CCP could simply turn the lights off. As such, it is clear that selling off the nation's strategic assets is in serious violation of the national interest.

Throughout this chapter I have argued that CCP influence is pervasive and manifest throughout Australia's education sector, political system, media, and businesses. The chapter has also sought to establish how deeply the CCP has permeated within these four sectors, while also touching on some of the implications this has.

# Chapter 3 – Implications and Australia's Response

Building off an understanding of the nature of CCP influence activities in Australia, this chapter seeks to delve deeper into the implications this has for Australia and address how the government is responding. The chapter is divided into three parts. The first section seeks to evaluate the implications of the CCP's influence efforts and outline the long-term goals behind these efforts. The second and third sections are related to Australia's current policy approach and act to outline and then assess the effectiveness of this approach.

# The Implications and Long-Term Goals of CCP Interference

Beijing's influence within Australian society is increasingly apparent, with this bringing profound implications that will only continue to grow as time goes on. CCP influence is slowly but surely changing the debate and discourse within Australia in efforts to promote the adoption of a more pro-China tone. Moreover, the CCP's influence activities are also increasingly stifling the exercise of democratic rights within Australia, particularly at Australian universities where academic freedom is being put in peril due to the activities of Chinese students and the attitude of appeasement adopted by the universities' administrations. Freedom of the press has already been significantly restricted within Australia's Chinese-language media outlets due to CCP influence efforts, with pressure also mounting on the nation's English-language media outlets to comply with Beijing's wishes in order to ensure access to lucrative Chinese revenue streams. Beijing is able to leverage Australia's reliance on Chinese money to its advantage and at the expense of Australia's free and democratic society. Moreover, Australia's financial vulnerability to China has been weaponised by Beijing, with the CCP on numerous occasions threatening economic ramifications if the Australian government does not fall into line.

The long-term goal of the CCP's influence operations is to shift Australian decision-making in Beijing's favour. This is driven by the CCP's overarching aim of ensuring that foreign nations do not pose a threat to the party and its control at home. Their efforts to co-opt and control foreigners are designed to do this. Economic manipulation, as we see at the individual (exemplified by Sam Dastyari) and the national level, is only the first step and is a blunt instrument used to strong-arm individuals and countries into compliance. The CCP's influence efforts that target public discourse are much more subtle and sophisticated in that they aspire to subliminally indoctrinate Australians with party propaganda. As these efforts continue, Australians will be living in an increasingly censored environment in which the discussion of anti-China topics is stifled. The final goal of this approach is that decision-makers will make choices that align with CCP interests of their own volition, without economic coercion or strong-arming necessary. Australia has clearly not reached this point yet but is on track with Chinese money greasing the wheels. Ensuring a strong policy response is the only way to effectively combat this threat. As Anson Chan, former chief secretary of Hong Kong, says: "By the time China's infiltration of Australia is readily apparent, it will be too late" (Hartcher 2016).

# The Current Policy Approach

In order to counteract CCP influence efforts Australia has three main mechanisms – the banning of foreign political donations, the Foreign Influence Transparency Scheme (FITS), and the Foreign Investment Review Board (FIRB). In 2018, the parliament banned all foreign political donations in order to stop foreign entities or individuals from influencing domestic political debate (The Australian Parliament 2017). The next major development occurred later in 2018 with the introduction of the FITS. The scheme was created in response to growing concern over CCP influence in Australia and mandates the public registration of entities acting on the behalf of a foreign government or political organisation (Australian Government n.d.). If organisations or

individuals fail to register or provide false information they may be imprisoned for up to six years or face a fine of \$88,200 (Garrick 2019).

The final element of Australia's current approach to foreign influence is the FIRB. The FIRB advises on whether or not a foreign purchase should be approved based on national security concerns. The threshold above which the FIRB considers cases of non-land asset purchases for countries with a free trade agreement with Australia (of which China is one) is \$1.2 billion for non-strategic assets and over \$275 million for strategic assets (Australian Government 2020a).

The government is also set to enact new laws by 2021 that would significantly strengthen Australia's control over foreign purchases. Under this, the FIRB's powers would be expanded with any acquisition of a 10% or larger stake in a "sensitive national security business" needing FIRB approval. Moreover, the Treasurer would also gain significant new powers, particularly the ability to block any purchase, regardless of its value, based on national security concerns, as well as the capacity to order foreign investors to dispose of their stake in an Australian business, again, based on national security concerns (The Treasury 2020). The effect of these reforms is that there would no longer be a monetary threshold under which FIRB screening does not occur, thus helping to avoid situations like the lease of the Port of Darwin in the future. Treasurer Josh Frydenburg has hailed the reforms as the most significant since the creation of the FIRB in 1975 (Frydenberg 2020).

# Is This Enough?

Australia's current policy framework is seriously lacking and, as it stands, has several fundamental flaws that severely limit its effectiveness at combating foreign influence. For one, the banning of foreign donations does not solve the issue of Chinese influence in political debate as there are

many Australian citizens of Chinese descent who maintain close links to the CCP. Examples of this can be seen with Australian citizens Chau Chak Wing and Charlton Lok, both of whom are major political donors and have previously worked under Huang Xiangmo in the CCP-affiliated ACPPRC (Knaus 2019).

The FTTS, Australia's primary mechanism to uncover foreign influence, also has numerous loopholes that prevent it from functioning effectively. The scheme relies on the cooperation and willingness of foreign entities to register themselves but makes a fundamental error in assuming that Chinese entities with connections to the CCP are likely to do so. Moreover, while there are punishments for non-compliance, providing irrefutable evidence that an organisation has direct links to the CCP is often in reality quite difficult, making it almost impossible for the Australian government to enforce the policy. This issue can be demonstrated in that the ACPPRC and all of Australia's CIs are notably absent from registration despite their clear and well-known ties to the CCP (Australian Government 2020b). In the case of CIs, the institutes and the universities hosting them were directly contacted by the government about the FITS and were instructed to register but this was ignored (Hunter 2019a).

The FIRB is also not functioning as it was designed. It was intended to block the sale of strategically important assets but is failing to do so, with significant purchases, such as the Port of Darwin sale, not being subject to FIRB approval (Anderson 2016). The thresholds currently in place are far too high and allow the purchase of important assets to fly under the radar without government approval. This is a major policy failure with significant national security ramifications. Nevertheless, there is hope for the future as the planned amendments to this policy will act to significantly strengthen the FIRB's oversight powers.

The negative repercussions of CCP interference for Australia's democracy and society are clear; however, the current policies fail to effectively combat the problem. Without a robust policy response, the government is leaving Australia open to ongoing influence efforts that damage the nation's society and democracy. Stronger and more effective policy is essential and, as Clive Hamilton says, "we have only just begun a decade-long project, at least, of undoing the influence networks that the CCP has already established" (Hamilton 2019a, 1).

## Conclusion

Australia is on the front line of Beijing's foreign influence campaign with the CCP taking advantage of Australia's close economic ties with China, its large Chinese diaspora population, and the nation's open society. A mounting body of evidence is building demonstrating the CCP's nefarious foreign influence activities throughout Australian society, particularly in the education sector, the political system, in the media, and in businesses. These influence efforts are undermining some of Australia's most fundamental values such as freedom of speech, freedom of association, and academic freedom, while also seeking to subvert the Australian political process to the benefit of the CCP. The Australian government has begun responding to this issue with several new laws coming into force since 2018; however, the ability of these laws to effectively protect the nation from CCP interference is limited. As Mike Burgess, the director of ASIO says: "Hostile foreign intelligence activity continues to pose a real threat to our nation and its security" (Australian Associated Press 2019b).

Australia is in a precarious position. On the one hand, without efforts to counteract CCP interference Australian politics and society will be increasingly subsumed and dictated to by Beijing; but on the other hand, if it seeks to resist, the nation will likely be met with increasingly punitive trade sanctions that will put the Australian economy in jeopardy. Australia's attempts to rebuke the CCP's influence efforts have long been chastised by Beijing, with Australia being labelled as leading an "anti-China campaign" (Harris and Bagshaw 2019). This belligerent approach has recently been on show with China banning Australian meat imports from several producers, putting an 80 percent tariff on Australian barley, as well as labelling Australia unsafe and calling for Chinese citizens not to travel to the nation – all in response to Australia's continued push for an international inquiry into the origins of COVID-19 (Sullivan and Gunders 2020; Irvine 2020; Han 2020).

"This is a war...with lots of battles" (Cave 2019). This is how the Consul General of the Chinese Consulate in Sydney, Gu Xiaojie, described China's influence efforts in Australia. If Australia wishes to win this war the government needs to re-evaluate its relationship with China and decide at what point must they choose national security and sovereignty over economic gain. The CCP's foreign influence efforts in Australia are perhaps the most advanced seen in any country in the world. Australia's open and inclusive society is one of the factors that has put the nation at increased risk, with the CCP targeting loopholes and vulnerabilities within the nation's democratic system. In this light, understanding Australia's case can be instructive for other countries which are just beginning to realise the reach of CCP influence.

The CCP already widely uses economic coercion and trade restrictions as tools to achieve its aims, with this having been employed against Norway, Japan, Mongolia, South Korea, Taiwan, and the Philippines, to name a few (Schrader 2020, 5). However, in spite of this many countries seem to be preoccupied with Russia as the main source of foreign interference, with relatively less awareness of China's efforts. Moreover, even when the threat of foreign influence is recognised it tends to be understood in the context of election interference, ignoring influence efforts targeted at the fabric of society. Because of this significant blind spot, many countries are fundamentally unprepared to address this reality, with policies tackling widespread foreign influence often lagging behind. The only way to counteract the problem is by being proactive.

## **Future Directions**

This thesis has sought to explore CCP influence in Australia and understand what implications this has and what the nation is doing to counter it. Australia is an important case, but nevertheless, further research is necessary as academic literature on CCP influence efforts, particularly pertaining to specific case studies, is relatively scant. This deficiency in the literature is significant considering

the seriousness of CCP influence operations and the consequences they bring for sovereignty. Expanded research in this field is essential to inform policymakers. A key weakness in the literature also exists as the issue of CCP influence is not subject to extensive theorising and, as such, further development in this area is likely and necessary. Moreover, the outbreak of COVID-19 has put a spotlight on China and the CCP's efforts to control the diffusion of information and public discourse on a global scale. As a result, it is likely that research into this area will expand in the future. Evidently, there is still important work to be done.

## References

- ABS. 2007. '2006 Census of Population and Housing: Media Releases and Fact Sheets'. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 27 June 2007. https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/7d12b0f6763c78caca257061001cc588/5a47 791aa683b719ca257306000d536c!OpenDocument.
- ———. 2017a. 'Census Reveals a Fast Changing, Culturally Diverse Nation'. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 27 June 2017. https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/lookup/Media%20Release3.
- ——. 2017b. 'Cultural Diversity in Australia'. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 28 June 2017. https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/by%20Subject/2071.0~2016~Main%20Features~Cultural%20Diversity%20Article~60.
- Anderlini, Jamil, Lucy Hornby, and James Kynge. 2017. 'Inside China's Secret "Magic Weapon" for Worldwide Influence'. *The Financial Times*, 26 October 2017. https://www.ft.com/content/fb2b3934-b004-11e7-beba-5521c713abf4.
- Anderson, Fleur. 2016. 'It's on Defence's Head: FIRB Chairman on Darwin Port'. *Australian Financial Review*, 10 March 2016. https://www.afr.com/politics/its-on-defences-head-firb-chairman-on-darwin-port-20160310-gnfrfe.
- Ang See, Teresita, and Carmelea Ang See. 2019. 'The Rise of China, New Immigrants and Changing Policies on Chinese Overseas: Impact on the Philippines'. *Southeast Asian Affairs* 2019 (1): 275–94.
- Astarita, Claudia, Allan Patience, and Sow Keat Tok. 2019. 'Chinese Students in Australia: Generators of Cosmopolitanism, Evidence of Economic Necessity or Agents of Political Influence?' *Journal of Australian Studies* 43 (3): 317–32.
- Australian Associated Press. 2019a. 'Liberal MP Gladys Liu Refuses to Say China's Actions in South China Sea Unlawful'. *The Guardian*, 10 September 2019. https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2019/sep/10/liberal-mp-gladys-liu-refuses-to-say-chinas-actions-in-south-china-sea-unlawful.
- ———. 2019b. 'ASIO Investigating Chinese Plot to Plant Spy in Australia's Parliament after Liberal Party Member Found Dead'. *The Guardian*, 24 November 2019, sec. Australia news. https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2019/nov/25/asio-investigatingchinese-plot-to-plant-spy-in-australias-parliament-after-liberal-member-found-dead.
- Australian Government. 2020a. 'Monetary Thresholds'. Foreign Investment Review Board. 29 March 2020. https://firb.gov.au/exemptions-thresholds/monetary-thresholds.
- 2020b. 'Transparency Register'. Attorney-General's Department. 21 May 2020. https://transparency.ag.gov.au/.

- . n.d. 'Foreign Influence Transparency Scheme'. Attorney-General's Department. Accessed 21 May 2020. https://www.ag.gov.au/Integrity/foreign-influence-transparency-scheme/Pages/default.aspx.
- Babones, Salvatore. 2019. 'The China Student Boom and the Risks It Poses to Australian Universities'. Analysis Paper 5. Centre for Independent Studies. https://www.cis.org.au/app/uploads/2019/08/ap5.pdf?
- Barro, Christiane. 2019. 'The Think Tanks Shaping Australia: The Australia-China Relations Institute'. The New Daily. 13 June 2019. https://thenewdaily.com.au/news/national/2019/06/13/australia-china-relations-institute/.
- Beech, Alexandra. 2019. 'ASIO Investigating Reports of Chinese Plot to Install Agent in Parliament'. ABC News. 24 November 2019. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-11-25/asio-says-its-taking-allegations-of-suspicious-death-serious/11733532.
- Benner, Thorsten, Jan Gaspers, Mareike Ohlberg, Lucrezia Poggetti, and Kristin Shi-Kupfer. 2018. 'Authoritarian Advance: Responding to China's Growing Political Influence in Europe'. Mercator Institute for China Studies. https://www.merics.org/sites/default/files/2018-02/GPPi\_MERICS\_Authoritarian\_Advance\_2018\_1.pdf.
- Brady, Anne-Marie. 2015. 'Authoritarianism Goes Global (II): China's Foreign Propaganda Machine'. *Journal of Democracy* 26 (4): 51–59.
- ———. 2017. 'Magic Weapons: China's Political Influence Activities under Xi Jinping'. In . Arlington, Virginia.
- ———. 2019. 'On the Correct Use of Terms'. *China Brief* 19 (9): 2–5.
- Cave, Damien. 2019. 'Australia's China Challenge'. *The New York Times*, 20 May 2019. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/05/20/world/australia/australia-china.html.
- Central Committee of the Communist Party of China's General Office. 2013. 'Document 9: Communiqué on the Current State of the Ideological Sphere'. https://www.chinafile.com/document-9-chinafile-translation.
- Chan, Tara Francis. 2018. 'A Chilling Story about Chinese Pressure in Australia Shows How Far Beijing Will Reach to Silence Critics'. Business Insider Australia. 2 May 2018. https://www.businessinsider.com.au/chinese-influence-in-australia-media-2018-5.
- Chang, C. Y. 1980. 'Overseas Chinese in China's Policy'. The China Quarterly, no. 82: 281–303.
- Chenoweth, Neil, Angus Grigg, and Edmund Tadros. 2019. 'Huang Xiangmo's Mystery \$1.2b Man'. *Australian Financial Review*, 1 November 2019. https://www.afr.com/property/residential/huang-xiangmo-s-mystery-1-2b-man-20191101-p536em.

- China Power Team. 2016. 'How Is China's Energy Footprint Changing?' ChinaPower Project Center for Strategic and International Studies. 15 February 2016. https://chinapower.csis.org/energy-footprint/.
- Clarke, Michael, Jennifer S. Hunt, and Matthew Sussex. 2020. 'Shaping the Post-Liberal Order from Within: China's Influence and Interference Operations in Australia and the United States'. *Orbis* 64 (2): 207–29.
- Condon, Matthew. 2020. 'The Boy Who Kicked the Hornet's Nest'. *The Australian*, 29 May 2020. https://www.theaustralian.com.au/weekend-australian-magazine/how-drew-pavlous-university-of-queensland-protest-enraged-china-and-started-a-free-speech-battle/news-story/82f5fd86413844c724e64322b11abb69.
- Conifer, Dan. 2019. 'How a Dead Liberal Party Member Put a Fresh Spotlight on Beijing's Foreign Interference Efforts'. ABC News. 25 November 2019. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-11-25/chinese-spy-parliament-foreign-interference-in-hong-kong-taiwan/11735176.
- Cook, Sarah. 2019. 'Student Indoctrination, Surveillance Innovation, GitHub Mobilization'. China Media Bulletin 135. Freedom House. https://freedomhouse.org/report/china-media-bulletin/china-media-bulletin-student-indoctrination-surveillance-innovation.
- Diamond, Larry, and Orville Schell. 2019. 'Appendix 2: Chinese Influence Activities in Select Countries'. In *China's Influence and American Interests: Promoting Constructive Vigilance*, 145–86. Hoover Press.
- Dias, Avani. 2013. 'Chinese Whispers: The Dalai Lama and Sydney University'. Honi Soit. 21 April 2013. http://honisoit.com/2013/04/chinese-whispers-the-dalai-lama-and-sydney-university/.
- Dotson, John. 2019. 'The United Front Work Department Goes Global: The Worldwide Expansion of the Council for the Promotion of the Peaceful Reunification of China'. *China Brief* 19 (9): 14–20.
- Duffy, Conor. 2020. "Victim" of University of Queensland Student Activist Drew Pavlou Says Charge Is "Laughable" in Email Lodged as Part of Appeal'. ABC News. 4 June 2020. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2020-06-04/anti-china-activist-drew-pavlou-uq-senate-hearing/12320016.
- Durie, John. 2018. 'Strategic Issues at Play in Chinese Port of Newcastle Deal'. *The Australian*, 12 February 2018. https://www.theaustralian.com.au/business/opinion/john-durie/strategic-issues-at-play-in-chinese-port-of-newcastle-deal/news-story/e194d6bac98bf5ce944cbb4cf1023698.
- Fitzgerald, John. 2018. 'Overstepping Down Under'. Journal of Democracy; Baltimore 29 (2): 59-67.
- ———. 2019. 'Mind Your Tongue Language, Public Diplomacy and Community Cohesion in Contemporary Australia—China Relations'. Policy Brief Report No. 20/2019. Australian Strategic Policy Institute. https://s3-ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/ad-aspi/2019-09/Mind%20your%20tongue.pdf?v8CaHleKmZF1Bt6zh9\_B8sib20tph\_6h.

- Friend, John M., and Bradley A. Thayer. 2018. How China Sees the World: Han-Centrism and the Balance of Power in International Politics. University of Nebraska Press.
- Frydenberg, Josh. 2020. 'Major Reforms to Australia's Foreign Investment Framework'. The Hon Josh Frydenberg MP. 5 June 2020. https://ministers.treasury.gov.au/ministers/josh-frydenberg-2018/media-releases/major-reforms-australias-foreign-investment-framework.
- Gamlen, Alan. 2006. 'Diaspora Engagement Policies: What Are They, and What Kinds of States Use Them?' Working Paper No. 32. Oxford: Centre on Migration, Policy and Society. https://www.compas.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/WP-2006-032-Gamlen\_Diaspora\_Engagement\_Policies.pdf.
- Gao, Jia. 2018. 'Chinese Australians Face a Foreign Influence Panic'. *Current History*, September 2018.
- Garnaut, John. 2014. 'Chinese Spies Keep Eye on Leading Universities'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 20 April 2014. https://www.smh.com.au/national/chinese-spies-keep-eye-on-leading-universities-20140420-36yww.html.
- . 2018. 'Australia's China Reset'. The Monthly. 1 August 2018. https://www.themonthly.com.au/issue/2018/august/1533045600/john-garnaut/australia-s-china-reset.
- Garrick, John. 2019. 'Agents of Foreign Influence: With China It's a Blurry Line between Corporate and State Interests'. The Conversation. 27 February 2019. http://theconversation.com/agents-of-foreign-influence-with-china-its-a-blurry-line-between-corporate-and-state-interests-112403.
- Gill, Bates, and Linda Jakobson. 2017. 'Is There a Problem with Chinese International Students?' China Matters. http://chinamatters.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/China-Matters-Recommends-21-Sept-2017-Chinese-international-students.pdf.
- Gill, Bates, and Benjamin Schreer. 2018. 'Countering China's "United Front". *The Washington Quarterly* 41 (2): 155–70.
- Goodman, James. 2018. 'Contesting Accusations of "Foreign Interference": The New Agenda for Australian Civil Society'. Cosmopolitan Civil Societies: An Interdisciplinary Journal 10 (1): 63.
- Gribbin, Caitlyn, and Dan Conifer. 2018. 'Political Donor Chau Chak Wing Funded Bribe given to UN President, MP Andrew Hastie Says'. ABC News. 22 May 2018. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2018-05-22/chau-chak-wing-un-bribe-scandal/9788926.
- Groot, Gerry. 2015. 'The United Front in an Age of Shared Destiny'. In *Shared Destiny*, by Jeremy Goldkorn, Linda Jaivin, and Geremie R Barmé, 128–35. ANU Press.
- ———. 2017. 'Making the World Safe (For China)'. In *Control*, edited by Jane Golley, Linda Jaivin, and Luigi Tomba, 277–94. ANU Press.

- 2019. 'The CCP's Grand United Front Abroad'. Sinopsis. https://sinopsis.cz/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/grootuf.pdf.
- Hála, Martin. 2019. 'United Front Work by Other Means: China's "Economic Diplomacy" in Central and Eastern Europe'. *China Brief* 19 (9): 21–26.
- Hamilton, Clive. 2018. *Silent Invasion: China's Influence in Australia*. Melbourne: Hardie Grant Books.
- ———. 2019a. 'Understanding China's Threat to Australia's National Security'. Speech presented at the 16th National Security Annual Summit, Canberra, May 8. https://clivehamilton.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Safeguarding-Australia-8-May.pdf.
- 2019b. 'Chinese Communist Party Influence in Australian Universities'. Lecture, The University of Queensland, August 28. https://clivehamilton.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/UQ-CCP-Influence-in-Universities-3.pdf.
- . 2019c. 'Why Gladys Liu Must Answer to Parliament about Alleged Links to the Chinese Government'. The Conversation. 11 September 2019. http://theconversation.com/why-gladys-liu-must-answer-to-parliament-about-alleged-links-to-the-chinese-government-123339.
- Hamilton, Clive, and Alex Joske. 2018. 'Submission to the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security: Inquiry into the National Security Legislation Amendment (Espionage and Foreign Interference) Bill 2017'. https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary\_Business/Committees/Joint/Intelligence\_and\_Security/EspionageFInterference/Submissions.
- Han, Heidi. 2020. 'Minister Slams China's Racism Claim'. *The Australian*, 6 June 2020. https://www.theaustralian.com.au/nation/minister-slams-chinas-racism-claim-travel-warning/news-story/f70961e6600ff2944ad65cb8c7b35b48.
- Harris, Rob. 2019. 'Liberal MP Gladys Liu Denies Links to Chinese Government'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 10 September 2019. https://www.smh.com.au/politics/federal/liberal-mp-gladys-liu-denies-links-to-chinese-government-20190910-p52q0l.html.
- Harris, Rob, and Eryk Bagshaw. 2019. 'China Claims Australia the "pioneer" of a Global Anti-China Campaign'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 24 September 2019. https://www.smh.com.au/politics/federal/china-claims-australia-the-pioneer-of-a-global-anti-china-campaign-20190924-p52ufk.html.
- Hartcher, Peter. 2016. 'China's Treatment of Hong Kong Is a Lesson for Australia'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 10 October 2016. https://www.smh.com.au/opinion/chinas-treatment-of-hong-kong-is-a-lesson-for-australia-20161010-gryvnv.html.
- Head, Michael. 2018. 'Australia's Anti-Democratic "Foreign Interference" Bills'. *Alternative Law Journal* 43 (3): 160–65.

- Henderson, Anna, and Stephanie Anderson. 2016. 'Sam Dastyari's Chinese Donations: What Are the Accusations and Is the Criticism Warranted?' ABC News. 5 September 2016. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-09-05/sam-dastyari-chinese-donations-furore-explained/7816588.
- Hu, Jintao. 2003. 'Text of the Speech by Chinese President Hu Jintao given to Federal Parliament Today'. The Parliament of Australia, October 24. https://www.smh.com.au/national/full-text-hus-speech-20031024-gdhnfs.html.
- Hunter, Fergus. 2019a. 'China-Funded Confucius Institutes Targeted under New Foreign Influence Scheme'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 12 March 2019. https://www.smh.com.au/politics/federal/china-funded-confucius-institutes-targeted-under-new-foreign-influence-scheme-20190312-p513i1.html.
- ———. 2019b. 'Universities Must Accept China's Directives on Confucius Institutes, Contracts Reveal'. The Age, 24 July 2019. https://www.theage.com.au/politics/federal/universities-must-accept-china-s-directives-on-confucius-institutes-contracts-reveal-20190724-p52ab9.html.
- Iggulden, Tom. 2019. 'Questions Raised about Liberal MP Gladys Liu amid Claims of Links to Chinese Political Influence Operations'. ABC News. 9 September 2019. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-09-10/gladys-liu-parliament-eligibility-in-question-amid-accusations/11493632.
- Irvine, Jessica. 2020. "Carefully Laid Trap"? Why Is China Imposing Tariffs on Our Barley (and What's a Tariff)? *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 20 May 2020. https://www.smh.com.au/national/carefully-laid-trap-why-is-china-imposing-tariffs-on-our-barley-and-what-s-a-tariff-20200519-p54uf7.html.
- Jakobson, Linda, and Andrew Parker. 2016. 'High Time for Proper Debate on Chinese Investment'. *The Australian*, 24 February 2016. https://www.theaustralian.com.au/nation/politics/high-time-for-proper-debate-on-chinese-investment/news-story/c7532d5e965ade591ed69e6dd500d0fa.
- Joske, Alex. 2018. 'Beijing Is Silencing Chinese-Australians'. *The New York Times*, 6 February 2018. https://www.nytimes.com/2018/02/06/opinion/beijing-chinese-australians-censorship.html.
- Kalimuddin, Mikail, and David A. Anderson. 2018. 'Soft Power in China's Security Strategy'. *Strategic Studies Quarterly* 12 (3): 114–41.
- Karp, Paul. 2017. 'Sam Dastyari Told Tanya Plibersek Not to Meet a Hong Kong Democracy Activist Report'. *The Guardian*, 10 December 2017. https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2017/dec/11/sam-dastyari-told-tanya-plibersek-not-to-meet-an-hong-kong-democracy-activist-report.
- King, James, and Echo Hui. 2019. 'Confucius Institute Chinese Language and Culture Teachers Must "love the Motherland" to Apply'. ABC News. 16 July 2019. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-07-17/confucius-institute-teachers-must-love-the-motherland/11299744.

- Knaus, Christopher. 2019. 'NSW Liberals Took Donations from Figure Linked to Pro-Beijing Group and Huang Xiangmo'. *The Guardian*, 7 February 2019. https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2019/feb/07/nsw-liberals-accepted-donations-linked-to-pro-beijing-group.
- Knott, Matthew, and Heath Aston. 2016. 'Don't Become "propaganda Vehicles" for China: Universities Warned over Donations'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 8 September 2016. https://www.smh.com.au/politics/federal/dont-become-propaganda-vehicles-for-china-universities-warned-over-donations-20160908-grc1as.html.
- Köllner, Patrick. 2018. 'From Honeymoon to Hangover: Resetting Australia's Relations with China'. https://www.ssoar.info/ssoar/bitstream/handle/document/59758/ssoar-2018-kollner-From\_Honeymoon\_to\_Hangover\_Resetting.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y&lnkname= ssoar-2018-kollner-From\_Honeymoon\_to\_Hangover\_Resetting.pdf.
- Liu, Hong, and Els van Dongen. 2016. 'China's Diaspora Policies as a New Mode of Transnational Governance'. *Journal of Contemporary China* 25 (102): 805–21.
- Lynch, Lydia. 2020. 'Kevin Rudd Accuses UQ of Appearing to "Bend the Knee to Beijing". Brishane Times, 2 June 2020. https://www.brisbanetimes.com.au/politics/queensland/kevin-rudd-accuses-uq-of-appearing-to-bend-the-knee-to-beijing-20200602-p54ys1.html.
- Macdonald-Smith, Angela. 2015. 'China State Power Investment Snaps up Pacific Hydro'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 16 December 2015. https://www.smh.com.au/business/chinastate-power-investment-snaps-up-pacific-hydro-20151216-glp7cg.html.
- Mack, Daniel. 2020. 'An Era of Foreign Political Interference: Impulsive, Overcompensation of Australia, and a Comparison of Legislative Schemes with the United States'. *Emory International Law Review* 34: 367.
- Maley, Paul, and Nicola Berkovic. 2017. 'Security Agencies Flag Chinese Manchurian Candidates'. *The Australian*, 8 December 2017. https://www.theaustralian.com.au/national-affairs/national-security/security-agencies-flag-chinese-manchurian-candidates/news-story/81e6dad4b472180141f543d2f08e3e25.
- Martin, Sarah. 2016. 'Carr "Operating Propaganda Arm". *The Australian*, 8 September 2016. https://www.theaustralian.com.au/national-affairs/foreign-affairs/bob-carrs-think-tank-operating-as-a-china-propaganda-arm/news-story/a6ed1b9355937b7cfa86301f58cd13f6.
- McCarthy, Greg, and Xianlin Song. 2018. 'China in Australia: The Discourses of Changst'. *Asian Studies Review* 42 (2): 323–41.
- McCauley, Dana. 2019. 'Clive Hamilton Slams "useful Idiots" of Chinese Influence on Campus'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 11 August 2019.

  https://www.smh.com.au/politics/federal/clive-hamilton-slams-useful-idiots-of-chinese-influence-on-campus-20190808-p52f8c.html.

- McKenna, Michael. 2020. 'Second "Victim" Stands by Pavlou'. *The Australian*, 5 June 2020. https://www.theaustralian.com.au/higher-education/second-victim-stands-by-drew-pavlou/news-story/b72806ee4ebfbede61eb6219424b9393.
- McKenzie, Nick, and Richard Baker. 2017. Wikileaked: Billionaire Australian Donor's Beijing Links Detailed in "sensitive" Diplomatic Cable'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 15 July 2017. https://www.smh.com.au/national/wikileaked-billionaire-australian-donors-beijing-links-detailed-in-sensitive-diplomatic-cable-20170714-gxb21c.html.
- McKenzie, Nick, Richard Baker, and Phillip Coorey. 2017. 'Sam Dastyari's South China Sea Comments Exposed on Tape'. *Australian Financial Review*, 29 November 2017. https://www.afr.com/politics/sam-dastyaris-south-china-sea-comments-exposed-ontape-20171129-gzv57l.
- McKenzie, Nick, James Massola, and Richard Baker. 2017. 'Sam Dastyari Defends Chinese Government in Secret Tape'. *Australian Financial Review*, 29 November 2017. https://www.afr.com/politics/federal/all-at-sea-shanghai-sam-dastyari-the-whale-and-the-lost-tape-recording-20171129-gzvde2.
- McKenzie, Nick, and Chris Uhlmann. 2017. 'ASIO Warned Politicians about Taking Cash from Huang Xiangmo, Chau Chak Wing'. *Australian Financial Review*, 5 June 2017. https://www.afr.com/politics/asio-warned-politicians-about-taking-cash-from-huang-xiangmo-chau-chak-wing-20170605-gwktc9.
- McKenzie, Nick, Chris Uhlmann, Richard Baker, Daniel Flitton, and Sashka Koloff. 2017. 'ASIO Investigation Targets Communist Party Links to Australian Political System'. ABC News. 5 June 2017. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2017-06-05/asio-china-spyraid/8589094.
- Medcalf, Rory. 2014. 'The Balancing Kangaroo: Australia and Chinese Power'. *Issues and Studies* 50 (3): 103–35.
- ———. 2019. 'Australia And China: Understanding the Reality Check'. *Australian Journal of International Affairs* 73 (2): 109–18.
- Medeiros, Evan S. 2009. 'China's Foreign Policy Objectives'. In *China's International Behavior*, 45–60. Activism, Opportunism, and Diversification. RAND Corporation.
- Needham, Kirsty. 2019. 'Xi Jinping Sends Strong Message with Handshake for Australian Political Donor'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 4 December 2019. https://www.smh.com.au/world/asia/xi-jinping-sends-strong-message-with-handshake-for-australian-political-donor-20191204-p53grd.html.
- Oakes, Dan, Echo Hui, and Sarah Curnow. 2019. 'Australian Liberal MP Gladys Liu's Links to Secretive United Front Chinese Influence Arm'. ABC News. 13 August 2019. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-08-14/liberal-gladys-liu-linked-to-secretive-chinese-influence-network/11288210.

- OEC. 2017a. 'Import Origins of Coal Briquettes to China'. The Observatory of Economic Complexity. 2017. https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree\_map/hs92/import/chn/show/2701/2017/.
- -. 2017b. 'Import Origins of Iron Ore to China'. The Observatory of Economic Complexity. 2017. https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree map/hs92/import/chn/show/2601/2017/.
- -. 2017c. 'Import Origins of Raw Zinc to China'. The Observatory of Economic Complexity. 2017. https://oec.world/en/visualize/tree map/hs92/import/chn/show/7901/2017/.
- Palit, Parama Sinha. 2017. 'Northeast Asia, Oceania and South Pacific: From Periphery to Greater Periphery'. In Analysing China's Soft Power Strategy and Comparative Indian Initiatives. SAGE Publications.
- Paradise, James F. 2009. 'China and International Harmony: The Role of Confucius Institutes in Bolstering Beijing's Soft Power'. Asian Survey 49 (4): 647-69.
- Patrick, Aaron. 2017. 'Sam Dastvari Is a Chinese "Agent of Influence": Ex-Intelligence Chief. Australian Financial Review, 3 December 2017. https://www.afr.com/politics/samdastyari-is-a-chinese-agent-of-influence-exintelligence-chief-20171203-gzxktb.
- Pleschová, Gabriela, and Rudolf Fürst. 2015. 'Mobilizing Overseas Chinese to Back Up Chinese Diplomacy: The Case of President Hu Jintao's Visit to Slovakia in 2009'. Problems of Post-Communism 62 (1): 55-65.
- Poston, Dudley, and Juvin Wong. 2016. 'The Chinese Diaspora: The Current Distribution of the Overseas Chinese Population'. Chinese Journal of Sociology 2 (July): 348–73.
- Pye, Lucian W. 1992. The Spirit of Chinese Politics. Harvard University Press.
- Reuters. 2016. 'China's Xi Urges State Media to Boost Global Influence'. Reuters. 19 February 2016. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-media-idUSKCN0VS1IF.
- Riordan, Primrose. 2016. 'Sam Dastyari Pledges to Support China on South China Sea beside Labor Donor'. Australian Financial Review, 31 August 2016. https://www.afr.com/politics/sam-dastyari-pledges-to-support-china-on-south-chinasea-beside-labor-donor-20160831-gr5mwk.
- -. 2017. 'ABC, Fairfax Accuse Chau Chak Wing of "Betraying" Australia'. The Australian, 6 October 2017. https://www.theaustralian.com.au/national-affairs/abc-fairfax-accusechau-chak-wing-of-betraying-australia/newsstory/83003f79af39625306a423d2b925840a.
- Riordan, Primrose, and Markus Mannheim. 2015. 'ASIO's New Neighbours' Links to China's Government'. Australian Financial Review, 22 November 2015. https://www.afr.com/politics/asios-new-neighbours-links-to-chinas-government-20151122-gl4ugq.

- Roy, Denny. 1997. 'The Foreign Policy of Great-Power China'. *Contemporary Southeast Asia* 19 (2): 121–35.
- Schrader, Matt. 2020. 'Friends and Enemies: A Framework for Understanding Chinese Political Interference in Democratic Countries'. Alliance for Securing Democracy. https://securingdemocracy.gmfus.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Friends-and-Enemies-A-Framework-for-Understanding-Chinese-Political-Interference-in-Democratic-Countries.pdf.
- Shambaugh, David. 2015. 'China's Soft-Power Push: The Search for Respect'. Foreign Affairs 94 (4): 99–107.
- Statistics Canada. 2017. 'Immigration and Ethnocultural Diversity Highlight Tables'. Statistics Canada. 25 October 2017. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hlt-fst/imm/Table.cfm?Lang=E&T=31&Geo=01&SO=4D.
- Statistics New Zealand. 2019. 'New Zealand's Population Reflects Growing Diversity'. Statistics New Zealand. 23 September 2019. https://www.stats.govt.nz/news/new-zealands-population-reflects-growing-diversity.
- Sullivan, Kath, and Jodie Gunders. 2020. 'Red-Meat Processors Have Beef Sales to China Suspended as Trade Barriers Escalate'. ABC News. 11 May 2020. https://www.abc.net.au/news/rural/2020-05-12/china-trade-escalation-as-beef-farmers-are-targeted/12237468.
- Sun, Wanning. 2016. 'Chinese Language Media in Australia: Developments, Challenges and Opportunities'. Australia-China Relations Institute. https://www.australiachinarelations.org/sites/default/files/Australia-China%20Relations%20Institute\_Chinese-language%20media%20in%20Australia%20Developments%2C%20challenges%20and%20opportunities\_Wanning%20Sun\_web%20version.pdf.
- 2018. 'How Australia's Mandarin Speakers Get Their News'. The Conversation. 22 November 2018. http://theconversation.com/how-australias-mandarin-speakers-get-their-news-106917.
- Suryadinata, Leo. 2017. 'Blurring the Distinction Between Huaqiao and Huaren: China's Changing Policy towards the Chinese Overseas'. *Southeast Asian Affairs*, 101–14.
- Suzuki, Takashi. 2019. 'China's United Front Work in the Xi Jinping Era Institutional Developments and Activities'. *Journal of Contemporary East Asia Studies* 8 (1): 83–98.
- Szczudlik, Justyna. 2018. "Tell China's Stories Well": Implications for the Western Narrative'. Policy Paper. Polish Institute of International Affairs. https://www.pism.pl/file/c6312476-9f12-45e0-8595-cf1eb7a06eb6.
- Tan, Su-Lin. 2019. 'ICAC: Huang Xiangmo Denies \$100,000 Donation'. *Australian Financial Review*, 5 September 2019. https://www.afr.com/politics/federal/icac-huang-xiangmo-denies-100-000-donation-20190905-p520an.

- Tang, Edmund. 2018. 'Australia's Two-Way Trade with the World Was up 11'. Australian Trade and Investment Commission. 23 July 2018. https://www.austrade.gov.au/News/Economic-analysis/australias-two-way-trade-with-the-world-was-up-11-to-763-billion-in-2017/.
- . 2019. 'Australia a Resilient Trade Performance'. Austrade. 9 February 2019. https://www.austrade.gov.au/news/economic-analysis/australia-a-resilient-trade-performance/.
- The Australian Parliament. 2017. 'Electoral Legislation Amendment (Electoral Funding and Disclosure Reform) Bill 2017: Explanatory Memorandum'. https://parlinfo.aph.gov.au/parlInfo/download/legislation/ems/s1117\_ems\_0906bacabedd-4bca-9d6d-aadec02953f4/upload\_pdf/655383em%20Edit.pdf;fileType=application%2Fpdf.
- The Economist. 2009. 'A Message from Confucius'. *The Economist*, 24 October 2009. https://www.economist.com/special-report/2009/10/24/a-message-from-confucius.
- 2017. 'Meddle Kingdom: Australia Battles Chinese Political Influence'. *The Economist*, 15 June 2017. https://www.economist.com/asia/2017/06/15/australia-battles-chinese-political-influence.
- The Guardian Australia. 2013. 'Sydney University Criticised for Blocking Dalai Lama Visit'. *The Guardian*, 18 April 2013. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/apr/18/sydney-university-dalai-lama.
- The Treasury. 2020. 'Foreign Investment Reforms'. The Treasury of the Australian Government. https://treasury.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-06/p2020-87595\_0.pdf.
- To, James Jiann Hua. 2014. Qiaowu: Extra-Territorial Policies for the Overseas Chinese. Brill.
- Van Der Plyum, Leo. 2014. 'Examining Chinese Censorship in Australia'. Vice. 17 November 2014. https://www.vice.com/en\_au/article/wd4ydx/examining-chinese-censorship-in-australia.
- Wade, Geoff. 2015. 'State Grid and Australia's National Security Interests'. The Strategist. 23 November 2015. https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/state-grid-and-australias-national-security-interests/.
- Walker, Christopher, and Jessica Ludwig. 2017. 'From "Soft Power" to "Sharp Power": Rising Authoritarian Influence in the Democratic World'. In *Sharp Power: Rising Authoritarian Influence*, by Juan Pablo Cardenal, Jacek Kucharczyk, Grigorij Mesežnikov, and Gabriela Pleschová, 6–25. National Endowement for Democracy.
- Walsh, Christopher. 2019. 'How and Why Did the Northern Territory Lease the Darwin Port to China, and at What Risk?' ABC News. 11 March 2019. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-03-12/why-did-northern-territory-sell-darwin-port-to-china-what-risk/10755720.

- Wang, Jianwei, and Tiang Boon Hoo. 2019. 'Periphery Diplomacy: Moving to the Center of China's Foreign Policy'. In *China's Omnidirectional Peripheral Diplomacy*, 3–14. World Scientific.
- Wen, Philip. 2016a. 'China's Patriots among Us: Beijing Pulls New Lever of Influence in Australia'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 13 April 2016. https://www.smh.com.au/world/chinas-patriots-among-us-beijing-pulls-new-lever-of-influence-in-australia-20160413-go4vv0.html.
- ———. 2016b. 'China's Propaganda Arms Push Soft Power in Australian Media Deals'. The Sydney Morning Herald, 31 May 2016. https://www.smh.com.au/business/companies/chinas-propaganda-arms-push-soft-power-in-australian-media-deals-20160531-gp7yz6.html.
- Wen, Philip, and Kelsey Munro. 2016. 'Chinese Language Newspapers in Australia: Beijing Controls Messaging, Propaganda in Press'. *The Sydney Morning Herald*, 8 July 2016. https://www.smh.com.au/national/chinese-language-newspapers-in-australia-beijing-controls-messaging-propaganda-in-press-20160610-gpg0s3.html.
- Woo, Yuen Pau. 2014. 'Is China's Dream an Asia-Pacific Dream?' China-US Focus. 13 November 2014. https://www.chinausfocus.com/foreign-policy/is-chinas-dream-an-asia-pacific-dream.
- Xu, Keyue. 2020. 'Australian University Students Support Anti-China Rioter Expulsion'. Global Times. 24 April 2020. https://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1186614.shtml.
- Yu, Lei. 2016. 'China–Australia Strategic Partnership in the Context of China's Grand Peripheral Diplomacy'. *Cambridge Review of International Affairs* 29 (2): 740–60.
- Zhang, Zheng. 2017. 'What Is the CCPPnR and the UFWD?' In *The Giant Awakens: A Collection of Insights into Chinese Government Influence in Australia*, edited by Yan Xia. Vision Times. https://www.visiontimes.com.au/pdf/Vision-Times-2017-Special-edition-The-Giant-.
- Zhuang, Guotu. 2017. Xi's secret economic weapon: Overseas Chinese. Nikkei Asian Review. https://asia.nikkei.com/Economy/Xi-s-secret-economic-weapon-Overseas-Chinese2.